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 2                    COUNCIL MEMBER TONY AVELLA:   Good morning.  

 3          My name is Council Member Tony Avella, and I'm the 

 4          Chair of the Subcommittee on Zoning and Franchises.  I 

 5          see we have a lot of people here today. 

 6                    Today's hearing is another hearing regarding 

 7          street furniture.  We had one last month, today is 

 8          another one, and there will be another one in the 

 9          future. 

10                    Joining me today, are Council Member 

11          Christine Quinn, and Council Member Al Vann, who are 

12          Members of this Subcommittee and also Council Member 

13          Mike McMahon.  I'm sure Council Member Eric Goia will 

14          be here shortly.  

15                    Before we start the hearing, I ask everyone 

16          as a courtesy to turn off their cellphones, or put it 

17          on vibrate, and please be reminded we have a three 

18          minute time limit for our speakers.  And, if you wish 

19          to testify--I should have mentioned this earlier, if 

20          there is anyone here who wishes to speak, please fill 

21          out a request slip from the Sergeant-At-Arms. 

22                    Our first panel of speakers are Christopher 

23          Rizzo  and Frank Sanchez from the Municipal Arts 

24          Society.  Either one of you gentlemen can start it off.

25                    MR. FRANK SANCHEZ:  Good morning, Council 
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 2          Member Avella and Members of the Subcommittee on Zoning 

 3          and Franchises, my name is Frank Sanchez, and I would 

 4          like to read a statement on behalf of the Municipal 

 5          Arts Society.

 6                    The Municipal Arts Society has battled for 

 7          over 100 years to improve the appearance of Ne York's 

 8          streets and sidewalks--the City's most prominent public 

 9          spaces.  We fully support a well thought-out 

10          coordinated street furniture franchise for our city, 

11          and are convinced that it can dramatically improve the 

12          appearance of our beleaguered streetscape.

13                    Most great cities are distinguished by 

14          well-designed street furniture, and it is time for New 

15          York City, not only to join their ranks, but to take a 

16          leadership role.  We urge the Council to approve this 

17          Authorizing Resolution so that the Administration can 

18          proceed and issue a Request For Proposals for a 

19          coordinated street furniture franchise. 

20                    Because of New York City's prominence in the 

21          design world, we urge that the City's prime concern be 

22          a program that gives us well designed street furniture 

23          that reflects our design heritage.  Even though 

24          additional revenue is a attractive prospect, this 

25          should not be the key concern.  The economic advantages 
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 2          that the City will gain from varied, well-designed 

 3          newsstands and bus shelters will far outweigh the 

 4          revenue gained.

 5                    We urge that the chosen vendor be the one 

 6          that presents the most distinguished and well executed 

 7          choices of design.  There should be an opportunity for 

 8          architects and artists to be engaged to design 

 9          newsstands and bus shelters that reflect our varied 

10          neighborhoods.  The franchise should allow for design 

11          flexibility.

12                    Regarding public advertising space, the 

13          current proposal calls for 2.5% of public ad space.  

14          Since this includes all the space on all the stands and 

15          bus shelters, vendors could offer the 2.5% on 

16          structures in locations where paying advertisers are 

17          unwilling to buy space.  This should be rethought.

18                    Maybe the City should require that the 2.5% 

19          of public ad space be placed in locations where the 

20          public would most profit from the information.  Graphic 

21          and mechanical support should be provided by the 

22          franchise to not-for-profit advertisers to ensure that 

23          high design and execution standards are maintained.

24                    Currently the proposal calls for an initial 

25          30 automatic public pay toilets to be included in the 
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 2          franchise.  It is our understanding that some major 

 3          cities have had problems with pay toilets, and siting 

 4          issues can become major community concerns.

 5                    In order to expedite this program, we believe 

 6          that toilets should not be allowed to delay the 

 7          implementation of the franchise, and if the toilets 

 8          prove to be too much of a problem, they should be 

 9          dropped from the program and added at a later date.

10                    At the present time, there is softness in the 

11          outdoor advertising market.  This might present an 

12          opportunity to reconsider the entire public pay 

13          telephone issue.  The current franchisees may be 

14          flexible with respect to the termination of their 

15          obligations under the franchise.  The time is right to 

16          consider correcting a mistake made by the previous City 

17          Administration, and include telephone booths within the 

18          new coordinated street furniture franchise.

19                    In conclusion, I don't believe there is a New 

20          Yorker who would not cheer the removal of these 

21          unsightly phone enclosures, which are nothing more than 

22          advertising vehicles.  Pubic phones placed inside bus 

23          shelters or connected to newsstands would serve the 

24          public well, and would remove this current additional 

25          advertising from our sidewalks.  Thank you very much.
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 2                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  May we 

 3          have the next speaker?

 4                    MR. CHRISTOPHER RIZZO:  Good morning, my name 

 5          is Christopher Rizzo.  I am Counsel to the Municipal 

 6          Arts Society of New York.  I would like to take this 

 7          opportunity to restate the Society's support for the 

 8          proposal, and to address a few additional areas in 

 9          which the proposal should be enhanced.  Specifically, I 

10          will address issues concerning the newsstand operators, 

11          technology and communities.

12                    One, the process of selecting a vendor and 

13          implementing the street furniture proposal must take 

14          into account the needs of the newsstand operators.

15                    There has been some talk of amortizing the 

16          costs of constructing the newsstands and having 

17          operators pay for them over the 20 year franchise.  

18          Newsstands serve an essential role in disseminating 

19          news and in the free exchange of ideas in our City.  

20          Charging the operators what will amount to a yearly fee 

21          in addition to their license fee will only engender 

22          opposition that will needlessly draw out this process.

23                    The newsstand operators should be brought 

24          into the process, perhaps in the form of an advisory 

25          committee, to help the City and the vendor design 
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 2          structures that are not just attractive, but also 

 3          practical.  Structures should recreate to the maximum 

 4          extent possible the square footage as exists currently.

 5                    The operators must have adequate room for not 

 6          just their comfort, but also to make a living out of 

 7          the stands.

 8                    Adequate provisions for the expansion of 

 9          technology must be made, both to manage its presence 

10          and to encourage it.  While it is not clear today what 

11          new methods of information dissemination will develop, 

12          it is certain that they will.

13                    The Request For Proposals should encourage 

14          potential franchisees to submit responses that 

15          incorporate and make provisions for technology in both 

16          newsstands and bus shelters.

17                    At the same time, the Request For Proposals 

18          must make clear that video screen type advertising 

19          cannot be placed on the structures.  The presence of 

20          advertising in public spaces is the trade-off for 

21          better looking, cleaner and safer streets.  Moving 

22          images in advertising however, would constitute a much 

23          more extreme invasion of this public space.

24                    The creation of additional bus shelters must 

25          remain a community driven process.  Once the franchisee 
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 2          has instituted a process for manufacturing bus shelters 

 3          and newsstands, it could become very cheap to 

 4          manufacture additional ones.  It is not difficult to 

 5          imagine that this cost-effectiveness will also be an 

 6          incentive to add more structures to increase 

 7          advertising revenues.  We cannot forget that street 

 8          furniture exists for the public's benefit. 

 9                    Communities must continue to drive the 

10          process for where street furniture goes and the Request 

11          For Proposal and the accompanying process must make 

12          this very clear.

13                    The Authorizing Resolution calls for a 

14          non-exclusive franchise.  While the preliminary plan is 

15          clearly to award the franchise to one entity, the RFP 

16          should not exclude the possibility of having more than 

17          one franchisee. 

18                    One final point regarding these several 

19          issues.  Many of the Society's concerns can be 

20          addressed by the City in the scoring process, as called 

21          for in Section 6 of the Authorizing Resolution, 

22          including the need for varied designs, incorporating 

23          the operators concerns and especially technology.

24                    Thank you for your time.  The Municipal Arts 

25          Society looks forward to the passage of an Authorizing 
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 2          Resolution for L.U. 226, and cleaner, safer and more 

 3          attractive streets city-wide.  Thank you.

 4                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  Our next 

 5          two speakers are Edward Wallace and Douglas Watts.

 6                    MR. EDWARD WALLACE:  Thank you for this 

 7          opportunity to testify today.  My name is Edward 

 8          Wallace, and have served as outside General Counsel in 

 9          the United States to JCDecaux, the world's largest bus 

10          shelter and municipal street furniture company, since 

11          they launched the first automatic public toilet in the 

12          United States in New York City in 1992.

13                    We are here today to share with the New York 

14          City Council our experience and knowledge about 

15          successful street furniture programs in the United 

16          States and worldwide.

17                    Properly run, coordinated street furniture 

18          with tasteful advertising can achieve goals for New 

19          York City:

20                    One, revenues to the City can increase 

21          significantly if newsstands are included, and streets 

22          can be beautified by reducing clutter.

23                    Two, Public services can be improved with 

24          better shelters, better newsstands, more litter bins, 

25          and of course, for key locations, but not everywhere, 
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 2          well maintained, self-cleaning automatic pay toilets.

 3                    JCDecaux has learned a great deal from 

 4          operating street furniture programs over its 38 years 

 5          in business, including the past seven years in San 

 6          Francisco.  The advertising revenue generated from the 

 7          113 signature newsstands and kiosks in San Francisco 

 8          has fully funded the toilet program, and the kiosks 

 9          have become a distinguished landmark structure on the 

10          San Francisco streetscape.

11                    The San Francisco experience has taught us 

12          something about public pay toilets as well.  The 

13          program started with 20 automatic public toilets.  San 

14          Francisco expanded that number to 25, and discussions 

15          are underway for more.

16                    We recommend that New York locate toilets in 

17          tourist areas and commercial areas where the need is 

18          the greatest and the opportunity to supervise them is 

19          the best. 

20                    Purely residential neighborhoods, by 

21          contrast, do not need public toilets.  Furthermore, 

22          automatic public toilets can be integrated into bus 

23          shelters in order to reduce street clutter.

24                    Revenues are generated from the sale of 

25          advertising.  The three basic principles in outdoor 
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 2          advertising are; location, location and location, just 

 3          as for real estate.  The good news is that the 

 4          locations where the need for shelters and newsstands is 

 5          greatest are also where advertising will sell in each 

 6          borough.

 7                    Now, let's take a look at what has happened 

 8          in New York City since the last street furniture RFP 

 9          five years ago:  The amount of street advertising has 

10          grown significantly, without necessarily maximizing the 

11          revenue received by the City.

12                    Since then, more than 3,000 new pay phones 

13          with advertising have been installed, primarily in 

14          Manhattan. These generate more advertising revenue than 

15          the bus shelters--$44 million from the pay phones 

16          versus $34 from shelters in 2000.  That is up from $18 

17          million from the pay phones and $24 million from the 

18          bus shelters in 1996.

19                    Obviously, it makes sense for the City to 

20          focus on maximum revenue.  The prospect of adding 

21          advertisements on newsstands in exchange for the 

22          dramatic improvement that would be accomplished by 

23          replacing the existing dilapidated newsstands with 

24          elegant structures and first-class maintenance is a 

25          win-win--enhanced streets and increased revenue.
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 2                    We can assure you that the competition 

 3          between the major street furniture companies to win 

 4          this RFP will drive up the guaranteed franchise payment 

 5          to the City.

 6                    You should know that in recent years, Los 

 7          Angeles and Chicago and Vancouver, have awarded 20-year 

 8          street furniture contracts.  These cities will be 

 9          receiving record revenues as well as better looking and 

10          better maintained structures.  We believe those cities 

11          launched their programs after seeing New York's pilot 

12          program ten years ago and after seeing the success of 

13          the San Francisco program.

14                    We hope that the City Council will approve 

15          the Authorizing Resolution before you.  We stand ready 

16          to answer any questions you may have.  We believe that 

17          the more you know about the program and its economics 

18          and the lessons learned from experience, the better.

19                    New York can increase its revenues and 

20          improve the quality of its streetscape without a penny 

21          of expense.  Thank you very much.

22                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  Before we 

23          hear from the next speaker, I would like to allow, 

24          because it is our practice to listen to elected 

25          officials first, I would like to have the Borough 

                                                                 13

 1                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

 2          President of Brooklyn, Marty Markowitz, come to the 

 3          Witness Table so that he may give his testimony. 

 4                    Also, I want to just mention that we have 

 5          been joined by Council Member Eric Goia, who is a 

 6          member of our Subcommittee, and Council Member James 

 7          Davis, who's a Council Member from Brooklyn.  Mr. 

 8          Borough President?

 9                    MR. MARTY MARKOWITZ, THE PRESIDENT OF THE 

10          BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN:  Good morning, and thank you 

11          Chairman Avella for the opportunity to address this 

12          Committee.

13                    First, let me applaud both the Council and 

14          the Administration for taking this initiative off the 

15          back burner and making it a priority.  At a time when 

16          we read daily of the hard choices that will be 

17          necessary to address the City's fiscal problems, it is 

18          refreshing to consider a program that will result both 

19          in capital investment in our neighborhoods, additional 

20          revenue in the City's coffers.

21                    However, it is vital that we have a program 

22          that does not sacrifice innovation, service and quality 

23          simply to maximize the revenue stream of the 

24          advertising placed on these much needed public service 

25          structures.  Let me take a moment to highlight a few 
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 2          points.

 3                    Neighborhood design:  It is important that 

 4          the new shelters, newsstands and automatic toilets 

 5          respect the uniqueness of our neighborhoods.  Designers 

 6          should be encouraged to provide multiple design schemes 

 7          that fit the surrounding area; be it the Asian Elegance 

 8          of Sunset Park, the Brownstone splendor of Park Slope, 

 9          Fort Green and Bed-Stuy, or the neon pizzazz of Coney 

10          Island. So I urge that extra credit be given to 

11          designers submitting more than just one or two basic 

12          designs.

13                    I also think it is important that talented 

14          New Yorkers from every borough be involved in 

15          evaluating the designs that are submitted to ensure 

16          there is a strong consensus that the structures will 

17          fit our neighborhoods.

18                    Speaking of extra credit, I think that any 

19          vendor who proposes to bring jobs to the City by 

20          building the structures right here, should get as much 

21          of a bonus as possible.  And let me say, that if any 

22          franchisee is looking for a great location and an able 

23          work force, I will be happy to give them a tour of 

24          Brooklyn. 

25                    Public participation:  Public participation 
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 2          is vital with respect to the siting and maintenance of 

 3          all structures.  I notice that the proposed Authorizing 

 4          Resolution includes the local Community Boards and 

 5          Council Members on the issue of siting these 

 6          improvements.

 7                    The Borough Presidents can play a vital role 

 8          in the siting and allocation of improvements throughout 

 9          thier borough.  I hope that my colleagues on the City 

10          Council work with the Administration to provide for 

11          that in the next draft of the Authorizing Resolution. 

12                    As to Bus Stop Shelters, right now there are 

13          around 3,000 in the City, serving more than 16,00 bus 

14          stops.  While in Manhattan, nearly a third of the bus 

15          stops have shelters.  In Brooklyn, only 17% have 

16          shelters.  It is absolutely necessary that the next 

17          franchisee be required to do more than just replace the 

18          existing plant.

19                    I would urge that any franchise require that 

20          the vendor markedly increase the number of shelters so 

21          that every area of our City benefits by these 

22          amenities.  It seems to me that we should be getting at 

23          least several thousand additional shelters, if not 

24          more.  Also, the distribution of the additional 

25          shelters should be driven by need, not revenue.
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 2                    The contract should also require the 

 3          franchisee to develop marketing programs for the sale 

 4          of advertising that are directed at local businesses 

 5          and merchants, not just big national advertisers for 

 6          whom a shelter ad is part of one large multi-media 

 7          campaign.  This will help local businesses and members 

 8          of the public, since it will result in more shelter in 

 9          heretofore ignored neighborhoods.

10                    Lastly, I would like to say a word in favor 

11          of automatic public toilets.  Native New Yorkers and 

12          visitors alike need relief.  Who hasn't gone to the 

13          park, or to a busy shopping area, and not spent a 

14          hectic time looking for a clean accessible comfort 

15          station?

16                    From the Parade Grounds to Coney Island, from 

17          Flatbush to Manhattan Beach, we've got plenty of places 

18          where these facilities are sorely needed.  I know that 

19          each unit is somewhat costly, and will decrease the 

20          revenue that otherwise would go to the General Fund. 

21                    However, this could be a 20 year long 

22          arrangement, and I urge you to include provisions that 

23          will allow the vendor to install as many automatic 

24          toilets as are needed and wanted in our neighborhoods.  

25          If they are safe, clean and well maintained, the demand 
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 2          could be greater than anticipated.

 3                    Thank you very much for allowing me to 

 4          testify before you today.

 5                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Mr. Borough 

 6          President, it's always a pleasure.  Thank you.  Okay, 

 7          now we'll hear from the next speaker.

 8                    MR. DOUGLAS WATTS:  Good morning.  My name is 

 9          Douglas Watts, and I am the President of Clear Channel 

10          Adshel, with offices located at 110 East 42nd Street.  

11          I am delighted to participate in today's hearing 

12          regarding a potential franchise for the provision of 

13          new street furniture in New York City.

14                    This occasion, long anticipated and 

15          enthusiastically welcomed is vitally important to the 

16          City's future.  The Administration and the City Council 

17          are to be commended for moving this important 

18          initiative to the forefront of the City's agenda.

19                    Few significant revenue producing proposals, 

20          such as this will also have so positive an impact on 

21          the attractiveness of our neighborhoods, while adding 

22          to the convenience, comfort and safety of our citizens.  

23          The City certainly needs the added revenue, but we 

24          equally need and deserve the multiple benefits to the 

25          quality of life in our town that this program would so 
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 2          visibly and dramatically assure.

 3                    Clear Channel Adshel will certainly respond 

 4          to the Request For Proposals contemplated by the 

 5          Administration and the Council.  It is happily both in 

 6          our civic and business interests to do so  We 

 7          understand the business.  Our architects and designers 

 8          are among the most highly regarded in the field.  We 

 9          build out what we promise and set the industry standard 

10          for maintenance and safety.

11                    We are a company with 3,000 municipal 

12          contracts around the country and around the world, 

13          representing more than 1000,000 pieces of exceptionally 

14          maintained state-of-the-art designer street furniture 

15          in every urban environment.

16                    We are part of Clear Channel Worldwide, which 

17          last year generated revenue of $8 billion operating in 

18          65 countries around the world.  But, Clear Channel is 

19          also a hometown player.  We own and operate the Ford 

20          Theater and local radio stations, we produce Broadway 

21          hits and Radio City spectaculars, and we represent star 

22          players on the town's major sports franchises.

23                    We live in this town and appreciate its style 

24          and energy.  We respect its life enhancing differences, 

25          its landmarks and its variety of neighborhoods.  We 
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 2          look forward to the opportunity of bringing our City 

 3          the best possible new street furniture and making a 

 4          positive difference in the lives of New Yorkers and 

 5          visitors.  Thank you.

 6                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  Our next 

 7          panel will be Robert Bookman and George Freeman. 
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 2          MR. ROBERT BOOKMAN:  Good morning.  My name is Robert 

 3          Bookman, and I am Counsel to the New York City 

 4          Newsstand Operators Association, a coalition of 

 5          sidewalk understand owners, employees and publishers of 

 6          our daily newspapers; here to emphasize the critical 

 7          importance of these mom and pop newsstand businesses to 

 8          the economic well-being of the newspaper publishing 

 9          industry.

10                    Unfortunately, we have all been here before.  

11          While this street furniture plan is not nearly as bad 

12          as the previous one, it is bad, discriminatory against 

13          newsstands and does nothing to help keep them in 

14          business.  Here is the current plan as described in the 

15          last public hearing.

16                    The City wants to tear down our current 

17          newsstands that we own and paid for with no 

18          compensation to the owner for his destroyed private 

19          property; replace them with new structures that we will 

20          not own and have little or no input into their design 

21          as our operating businesses.

22                    We will have to pay for the new structures 

23          over 20 years, and the City will place advertising on 

24          those new structures, but will not share the 

25          advertising revenue with the newsstand operator.  It 
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 2          will be split between the City and the company that the 

 3          City chooses to build new bus shelters, toilets, 

 4          garbage cans and newsstands. 

 5                    And, once again, the City reserves the right 

 6          to relocate existing newsstands at locations DOT deems 

 7          too  congested.  Code words for putting newsstands out 

 8          of business.  What a great deal.  Any takers out there?  

 9          I didn't think so. 

10                    Newsstands are not the City's street 

11          furniture.  They are privately owned and paid for 

12          businesses that hard working people work in every day.  

13          On what legal theory is the City going to tear down our 

14          stands?  Let the City do what it wants with the street 

15          furniture it owns; bus shelters, signs, street lights, 

16          garbage cans, toilets if it wants, and leave us out, 

17          just as the other privately owned structures on the 

18          sidewalk are left out of the City's plan.  Telephone 

19          and sidewalk cafes are untouched.  In fact, telephones 

20          continue to receive advertising revenue on their 

21          structures.  Only newsstands are included. 

22                    Please understand, that the sidewalk 

23          newsstand business is in terrible shape.

24                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Please sum up your 

25          remarks.
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 2                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Just quickly in conclusion, I 

 3          just want to say there is no free lunch.  The City will 

 4          pay for these toilets and bus shelters through 

 5          decreased revenue.  It's clear, dollars are dollars.  

 6          There is no new revenue in this proposal other than our 

 7          newsstands.  Everything else is being replaced shelter 

 8          for shelter. 

 9                    With all due respect, we would like to share 

10          that revenue with the City, but it doesn't need to be 

11          part of the Street Furniture Plan to do that.  Thank 

12          you. 

13                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Next speaker.

14                    MR. GEORGE FREEMAN:  My name is George 

15          Freeman, Assistant General Counsel of the New York 

16          Times.  I agree with what Mr. Bookman said. It's 

17          important to us that the newsstand owners survive not 

18          only for their own sake, but also to continue the 

19          viability and life of newsstands in New York.

20                    From the publishers point of view, what is 

21          critical is that the staggering loss of newsstands that 

22          we have seen in the streets of New York be reversed.  

23          As you know, about three decades ago, there were about 

24          1500 newsstands.  Today there is about 289. 

25                    Whatever the Administration and or the 
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 2          Council does, is--what's critical to us, to the 

 3          publishers, is that it be done with a view toward 

 4          increasing, increasing the numbers of newsstands on our 

 5          streets. 

 6                    First of all, newsstands have long 

 7          contributed to the colorful mosaic and fabric of the 

 8          streets in New York, and to the streetscape which is 

 9          always the key to our city.

10                    Secondly, by being a fixed pair of eyes on 

11          our streets at all times, newsstands contribute to 

12          insuring public safety and are part of the battle 

13          against crime. 

14                    And, finally and most important, and this 

15          point is often missed, over the conflict of these types 

16          of issues, newsstands make it more accessible, make it 

17          easier for the public to get newspaper and magazines.  

18          These are troubled times for our city and country, and 

19          it is important not only for the our publishers, but 

20          also for the government to insure and inform public 

21          citizenry. 

22                    Unless it becomes easier for people to get 

23          newspapers and magazines and periodicals by making them 

24          more accessible by increasing the number of outlets, 

25          our citizenry, an informed citizenry, which is critical 
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 2          to a  democracy, particularly in these times, would be 

 3          less informed about the issues of the day, less 

 4          informed who to vote for as their representatives 

 5          unless able to participate in our democracy. 

 6                    So it is critical to contribute to one of the 

 7          factors hereby making sure whatever you do at the end 

 8          of the day, contribute to the ease of people being able 

 9          to get newspapers, and not continuing the trend to make 

10          newsstands more distant and less accessible. 

11                    We went through this several years ago with 

12          the Guiluani Administration, when he had a street 

13          furniture plan initiative, and we had agreed before the 

14          Mayor took the whole plan off the drawingboard, we had 

15          agreed on the basic framework of a situation such as 

16          the one the City now seems to be proposing, and one 

17          important element that was critical to the support of 

18          the publishers, was an increase of 100 newsstands 

19          altogether.  At that time I believe there were 75 

20          newsstands, and I think that same increase is what is 

21          critical here. 

22                    An increase combined without moving the 

23          location of a newsstand from the good locations they 

24          generally are in  now to a more back middle of the 

25          street location. 
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 2                    So, the publishers of the New York Times at 

 3          any rate would support this sort of initiative if it 

 4          comes along with an increase, a significant increase in 

 5          the number of newsstands and a continued good location 

 6          for those newsstands.  Thank you. 

 7                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you. Next 

 8          speaker.

 9                    MR. BOB BERGAN:  Good morning.  My name is 

10          Bob Bergan.  I'm a Single Copy Director from Newsday, 

11          and I'm here to fully support as we have in the past, 

12          the statement of Mr. Bookman and Mr. Freeman.  We ask 

13          you to consider and continue to support the newsstand 

14          operators in New York.  Thank you very much. 

15                    MR. ROBERT McLAUGHLIN:  Good morning.  My 

16          name is Robert McLaughlin, and I am the Circulations 

17          Director of USA Today, and I also support Mr. Bookman's 

18          position as well as Mr. Freeman's, and I think it's 

19          critically important to the survival of USA Today and 

20          all the other publications and the free press in the 

21          City.  Thank you. 

22                    MR. MARTIN PINERO:  Hi, my name is Martin 

23          Pinero.   My name is Martin Pinero. I represent the New 

24          York Daily  News.  I'm the Manhattan Single Copies Sale 

25          Manager, and we also want to say that we support fully 
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 2          the testimony Mr. Freeman and Mr. Bookman presented 

 3          today to the Council.  Thank you. 

 4                    MR. PETER REILLY:  Hi, my name is Peter 

 5          Reilly.  I am a Circulation Sales Manager at the New 

 6          York Post, and we also want to state that we recommend 

 7          and stand behind all the decisions that were made.  

 8          Thank you.

 9                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Questions from 

10          Committee Members?  Council Member Mike McMahon? 

11                    COUNCIL MEMBER MICHAEL McMAHON:  Mr. Bookman, 

12          you have to tell me your secret, because if I could get 

13          all the newspapers to stand behind me like they stand 

14          behind you, I can get in the Governor's race right now. 

15                    MR. BOOKMAN:  The secrets are available.

16                    COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  We will talk 

17          afterwards.  Just as an observation, a lot of 

18          newsstands that you see around the City, primarily are 

19          in Manhattan.  I represent Staten Island, and with the 

20          loss of the mini-newsstands at the Staten Island Ferry 

21          there is only a makeshift one there right now, so I 

22          think we may be woefully underserved with newsstands, 

23          but that's not really the issue. 

24                    Many of the newsstands appear to be in poor 

25          condition, or poorly maintained and I think that what 

                                                                 27

 1                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

 2          the city is trying to do here, and the Administration, 

 3          is to raise the level of the appearance of those 

 4          newsstands.  Under your proposal, how would that be 

 5          addressed? 

 6                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Our proposal would 

 7          substantially accomplish at least half of that goal 

 8          immediately and that goal being the reason why the 

 9          outside of newsstands and the physical outside 

10          structure is not maintained that well is because 

11          there's nothing out there.  They are inviting what we 

12          call in law, an attractive nuisance.  They are inviting 

13          a wall for graffiti and stickers.  And as much as we 

14          stay on top of it, it's an impossible job for somebody 

15          whose business is in the newsstands.

16                    By placing advertisement on the outside of 

17          the newsstands, through one of the authorized 

18          advertised representatives, the City has already 

19          approved to place advertising on telephones, and the 

20          City's advertising team (Inaudible) is already in 

21          place.  Part of the legal responsibility for us and to 

22          the City, is to remove graffiti and remove stickers. 

23                    COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  I believe within 48 

24          hours. 

25                    Mr. Bookman:  That's right, that's part of 
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 2          their right to have advertising.  I believe it's within 

 3          24 to 48 hours.  So the physical placement of the 

 4          advertising panel itself beautifies the newsstands by 

 5          retrofitting the existing structures, and with that 

 6          advertising comes a maintenance schedule which simply 

 7          doesn't exist now, which we can't even purchase because 

 8          the price would be prohibitive. 

 9                    So we  immediately get anew revenue stream 

10          for the City because you would share in that 

11          advertising revenue more likely in an amount greater 

12          than you would in street furniture because we would not 

13          be requiring right now the investment for brand new 

14          newsstands, but you would have it under my plan for 

15          brand new newsstands, and you would have better 

16          maintained newsstands. 

17                    And my feeling is now in your neighborhoods 

18          and the other neighborhoods, in a situation where we 

19          are about to face tax increases and layoffs, what would 

20          your community  rather have, longer library hours and 

21          senior citizen center hours, or more newsstands?  I 

22          think it's a no-brainer, especially if we are adding 

23          well-maintained newsstands. 

24                    So, we get the first half immediately. Down 

25          the road 3, 4, 5, years from now, when the City comes 
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 2          out of these hard economic times, or hopefully sooner, 

 3          at that point if you want to make it a requirement to 

 4          continue the advertising, say "okay, now you have to 

 5          replace the structure with a brand new one now that 

 6          times are better".  We would have no problem at that 

 7          point doing that. 

 8                    MR. REILLY:  Can I answer your question?  I 

 9          think it's absolutely an outrage that at the entrance 

10          of the Staten Island Ferry there are no newsstands.  I 

11          don't know the reason for that.

12                    COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  No, the Terminal is 

13          undergoing renovation and the newsstand that was there 

14          is just a makeshift, but you're right.

15                    MR. REILLY:  That's the problem throughout 

16          the city where newsstands ought to be, they are really 

17          not.  And that's partly a function I think of the hard 

18          restraints the newsstand owners are into, but it's also 

19          due to City bureaucracy.  It does not pass on newsstand 

20          applications.    My problem is exactly the point you 

21          made, but in this  particular case, it seems to be with 

22          some reason.

23                    COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  But it was certainly 

24          underserved.  I understand what you're saying, but I 

25          just have to wonder, because right out here at City 
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 2          Hall Park, there is a newsstand that was renovated as 

 3          part of the park renovation, and it's a very nice 

 4          structure, but since I have been here at City Hall, the 

 5          outside of that structure has always been dirty, never 

 6          been cleaned and poorly maintained. 

 7                    So we are hearing how this initiative will 

 8          get the newsstand operators to maintain, or some 

 9          outside contractor to maintain their newsstands. 

10                    Yet, I don't see with that building, a 

11          commitment, an operator saying I got a nice newsstand 

12          here, I'm in the heart of City of New York, and it's 

13          not being maintained.

14                    I always kind of work with a pet peeve, that 

15          the quality of life means everybody takes care of their 

16          front yard, and here you have a situation where you 

17          have a beautiful newsstand, and yet it's not maintained 

18          properly. 

19                    Its never been cleaned since I have been in 

20          City Hall since January,  and I wonder if the operator 

21          of that newsstand with would take pride of that 

22          newsstand and keep it clean.

23                    MR. BOOKMAN:   You would think so, but your 

24          example is the most expensive newsstand built in the 

25          City of New York, and yet because there's no outside 
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 2          advertising, nobody knows whose job it is, or legal 

 3          responsibility it is to take care of that outside.  

 4          There is no regular maintenance schedule.

 5                    My plan is no different than the City's plan 

 6          as far as that goes.  We will both provide you because 

 7          of the advertising, for the first time in history, with 

 8          well maintained newsstands because that's what the 

 9          advertising company is selling the outside of that 

10          structure for.  So they will make sure it looks good. 

11                    The difference is the little guy gets a share 

12          of the income and keeps control of his business under 

13          my plan, and under the City's plan we are cut out of it 

14          and the income gets shared between some international 

15          company and the City for no reason other than they want 

16          to maximize their profit by including our newsstands in 

17          their bus shelter franchise.

18                    COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  But not to belabor 

19          the point, wouldn't the little guy have an incentive to 

20          have that newsstand clean and looking good on his own, 

21          whether or not there are advertisements on the outside? 

22                    MR. BOOKMAN:  No.

23                    COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Why?

24                    MR. BOOKMAN:  You would think so, and I would 

25          think so--
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 2                    MR. McMAHON:  Maybe I'm a dreamer.

 3                    MR. BOOKMAN:  I had this intellectual 

 4          conversation with my clients for many years, and 

 5          their--

 6                    COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  I hope this doesn't 

 7          jeopardize my endorsements here.

 8                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Not at all.  I had this 

 9          intellectual  conversation with my clients for many 

10          years, and their position is, the outside of the 

11          structure, whether how beautiful, whether it's designed 

12          by Calvin Klein, the outside is going to have no impact 

13          on the business that I make here.  It's the product I 

14          carry, the size and location and what goes on inside. 

15                    For better or worse, and I agree with you, 

16          newsstand operators, from time in memorial, when it was 

17          handicapped people and World War II vets, to the time 

18          today, where it's all recent immigrants on a day to day 

19          basis, doesn't care what the outside looks like.  

20          That's the truth of the matter, and I will give you a 

21          straight answer to a straight question. 

22                    The only real solution to that advertising 

23          is, which plan are you going to go for, the one that 

24          supports the little guy, or the one that supports the 

25          other guy? 
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 2                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:   I just want to say 

 3          at this time that we've been joined by Council Membe 

 4          Gail Brewer.  Council Member Eric Goia?

 5                    COUNCIL MEMBER ERIC GOIA:  Thank you, Mr. 

 6          Chair.  Mr. Bookman, I'm hearing I think it was Adam 

 7          Smith in The Wealth of Nations", who said something 

 8          like, "You cannot rely  on the charity of the butcher, 

 9          or the baker to make his meal, but you rely on his own 

10          self-interest". 

11                    And I think we  can't rely on the charity of 

12          newsstand operators to clean their own newsstands but, 

13          if we put it in their self-interest to do so, they 

14          would then maintain the outside in a more workable or 

15          aesthetically pleasing way.

16                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Unfortunately that's correct.

17                    COUNCIL MEMBER GOIA:  Unfortunately not, 

18          that's the society we live in.  We don't rely on the 

19          New York Times or New York Post because they think you 

20          need to be informed citizens---

21                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Very little amount of money 

22          doing it that way.

23                    COUNCIL MEMBER GOIA:  A very little amount of 

24          money in revenue, but I hope all of you make more 

25          money.  Keep endorsing me, too. 
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 2                    You raised two really important values to me, 

 3          and I would like to just kind of take them one at a 

 4          time and talk about them. 

 5                    We have an election coming up and we, being 

 6          the politicians like all of us are, we try to get our 

 7          message across.  We try to educate voters through 

 8          advertising.  Unfortunately, in this city, to advertise 

 9          on television it costs anywhere between say $100,000 

10          and $1.2 million, $1.3 million, to get enough 

11          saturation, actually to get folks to know what you're 

12          talking about.  Even when we do that, it usually is not 

13          informative; it's 30 second attack pieces. 

14                    So, in this democracy, the important thing we 

15          do is every couple of years we pull a lever for a 

16          leader who wants to lead us, we have to rely on 

17          newspapers to get out what the real issues in 

18          elections, in democracies are. 

19                    And, what I'm hearing concerns me, because 

20          what you're saying is that this issue before you, are 

21          you saying it would actually decrease the amount of 

22          newsstands out on the street?  I think because they 

23          would actually be tearing  them down and reconstructing 

24          them and potentially in the long-term because it's less 

25          profitable for these guys out there to do their 
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 2          business.  

 3                    MR. BOOKMAN:  I believe the answer is yes, 

 4          and there's multiple reasons, there is no one reason 

 5          for it, but there are multiple reasons. 

 6                    First and foremost, just happenstance of the 

 7          timing of this proposal, is that we are facing the 

 8          worse economic times for sidewalk newsstands in 

 9          history.  For two reasons I mentioned in my testimony, 

10          neither one of which was done--one which you all had 

11          nothing to do with, which is lower tourism, and 

12          sidewalk tourism are very much tourism based in most 

13          neighborhoods, certainly in Manhattan, and Midtown. 

14                    The second thing, it was the unattended 

15          consequences of the cigarette tax which has 

16          dramatically reduced the number of people who buy items 

17          from newsstands, period. 

18                    I know it wasn't your are goal to put 

19          newsstands out of business by doing that, and it seems 

20          to me it's a real possibility you have part of an 

21          obligation to insure that that doesn't happen. 

22                    The timing is such that we need a new revenue 

23          stream for newsstands to help them keep in business.  

24          There is nothing we can do with our 60 square feet to 

25          help that revenue stream.  So the only real answer is 
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 2          advertising.   The advertising will give us a few extra 

 3          bucks every month, and it will give the City another 

 4          million dollars or so from the total a year from 

 5          newsstands.  So that's the first issue. 

 6                    The City's proposal though is newsstands, 

 7          zero new revenue.  So it doesn't help at all facing the 

 8          difficult situation we are in.  But then there are the 

 9          other issues that you touched on. 

10                    There  is the actual physically tearing down 

11          of the newsstand and replacing it with the new one.  

12          There is the looming thought that you only see in 

13          footnotes concerning us, that last time turned out to 

14          be the devil is in the details, and DOT was planning on 

15          according them moving, and putting us out of business.  

16          Fifteen percent of the newsstands when the RFP was out 

17          of your hands and in their plans. 

18                    They decided the areas that are too 

19          congested, they weren't going to replace an old 

20          newsstand with a new one, and they were moving a 

21          newsstand from Madison Avenue and 42nd Street to 

22          Madison and 43rd Street, saying you're only a block 

23          away.  You might as well put us on the West Side 

24          Highway.  That newsstand would have been put out of 

25          business. 
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 2                    So there is a real fear that once it's out of 

 3          your hands, we are down 10 to 15% of the newsstands 

 4          across the board simply without giving this Authorizing 

 5          Resolution, without saying that no newsstand can be 

 6          replaced other than this footprint which is not part of 

 7          their proposal. 

 8                    Then there is the design issue.  These 

 9          average 60 square feet.  There is a lot of newsstands 

10          operators here.  Raise your hands for a second.  Every 

11          inch of this, when you have a 60 foot square business, 

12          every inch is designed to help make a living. 

13                    These are mom and pop operators.  By law 

14          there are no corporations.  Nobody can own more than 

15          two.  They support their families with this.  A company 

16          that comes in, whose goal it is to sell advertising, 

17          their job is to design something that maximizes the 

18          sale of advertising.  Our goal to design something that 

19          maximizes our newsstand business. 

20                    So while I'm sure they will give us some 

21          input, and we all know what input means, we will have 

22          no control over our business.  That's why I started off 

23          by saying it's not your street furniture, it's our 

24          business. 

25                    And once that design is taken away from us, 
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 2          we will have to take what they give us, and I guarantee 

 3          you it will be less functional and it wouldn't maximize 

 4          our internal space the way we maximize our internal 

 5          space.

 6                    So for all those reasons, yes, it will put 

 7          newsstands out of business. 

 8                    COUNCIL MEMBER GOIA:  The one way of dealing 

 9          with the fear that you have expressed, is to put in the 

10          business proposal the requirement that the contractor 

11          can construct 400 newsstands and then you can basically 

12          have an increase in the number of newsstands, and as 

13          Mr. Bookman said, the current newsstands be replaced in 

14          the footprint where they are with the new newsstands 

15          and the additional newsstands.  Certainly the 

16          publishers will work with the City on establishing good 

17          locations for them. 

18                    In addition, there has to be an easier 

19          application process so that Mr. Bookman's clients, say 

20          apply for those 100 newsstands can do so quickly, 

21          rather than get in a logjam of the bureaucracy.

22                    MR. BOOKMAN:  If you let us put advertising 

23          in our newsstands and nullify the application process 

24          so that it  doesn't take two years and go through 42 

25          different agencies.  I assure you there will be more 
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 2          applicants and we can stop the decline in the number of 

 3          newsstands.

 4                    COUNCIL MEMBER GOIA:  Thank you.  Those are 

 5          two suggestions I would like to hear, and that's what I 

 6          was trying to solicit.  The other thing I wanted to 

 7          talk you about, really tugged on my heart strings when 

 8          you talked about mom and pop stores. 

 9                    I grew up in the back of a mom and pop store 

10          on Roosevelt Avenue, in a little florist that has had 

11          been in my family for a hundred years, and I look at 

12          the newsstand owners, and I recognize that many of them 

13          are new Americans, and really they are struggling to 

14          make ends meet. 

15                    What else would you like to see in there, in 

16          the plan that would actually help-- I mean I believe we 

17          can do everything we can to help foster mom and pop 

18          stores,and help foster the idea that folks can come 

19          here from wherever they are from and be able to run 

20          this small business successfully.    What else would 

21          you like to see in there?  I don't know if you already 

22          mentioned it.

23                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Give us the same rights the 

24          thousands of telephones have out there to put 

25          advertising on our structures that we own and paid for, 
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 2          and share in a revenue to the City. 

 3                    I mean, if this proposal was made to Verizon 

 4          and the other telephone companies, that we are going to 

 5          tear down the structures that you built, but you can 

 6          keep the phones, we are not going to give you no 

 7          compensation for the structures you built, we are going 

 8          to choose new companies, a company who is going to put 

 9          new structures around your telephones, and we are going 

10          to put advertising on it and not share with you 

11          anymore. 

12                    As they say in law school, it wouldn't pass 

13          the laugh test, and nobody would propose saying that to 

14          Verizon because they are a big corporation, but because 

15          we are a little nobody, and mostly immigrants, recent 

16          immigrants, people think they can get away with it, and 

17          I keep asking when is this little guy going to stop 

18          getting screwed here?

19                    COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Obviously you made 

20          these concerns known to the Administration.  What has 

21          been their response? 

22                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Actually, no.  I attempted to 

23          reach out to the Administration, but they seem to feel 

24          that since this proposal is much better than the 

25          Guilani Administration's, which it is, we were told 
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 2          believe it or not, that thee's really no need to sit 

 3          down and talk to us about it, and they also seem to 

 4          keep saying, and I don't understand this as an 

 5          attorney, that if we make any changes in the Guilani 

 6          proposal, we will have to start the process all over 

 7          again.  It seems to me we started the process all over 

 8          again any way. 

 9                    COUNCIL MEMBER GOIA:  I thank you for coming 

10          here today.  I'm going to wrap up my questions, but I'm 

11          going to say, your clients are not nobodies to us and 

12          you have come to the right place, and I'm sorry that 

13          you have not been able to have your voice heard on the 

14          other side of City Hall, but it's heard here today and 

15          through this Committee and Chairman Avella, the little 

16          guy counts here. 

17                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Thank you.

18                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Council Member 

19          Christine Quinn, and we have also been joined by 

20          Council Member Melinda Katz. 

21                    COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  With the idea of 

22          putting advertising on the structures, let me just play 

23          Devil's Advocate a little bit.  If we put advertising 

24          on the existing structures tomorrow, and then the City 

25          got a cut and the owners got a cut, the advertisers 
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 2          would still have to get a cut? 

 3                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Of course.

 4                    COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do you have any sense 

 5          of what the decrease in the money the City would get?  

 6          How much the advertisers cut so to speak would go down, 

 7          compared to what their plan is?

 8                    MR. BOOKMAN:  It's quite the opposite.  With 

 9          my plan, the City will get a higher percentage because 

10          we are not paying for toilets, which they have already 

11          admitted are huge expenses. 

12                    Like I said, there is no free lunch.  You, 

13          the City, are paying for each and every one of those 

14          toilets  through decreased revenue.  They got to make 

15          up their money somehow.  A dollar is a dollar.  You ask 

16          them to make a     $60 million expense expenditure 

17          that's $60 million less than the City would get if it 

18          simply maximizes its current street furniture.  That's 

19          what I'm suggesting. 

20                    When you're sitting around the kitchen table 

21          and you both work, and one is being laid off, it's not 

22          the time to buy a new car no matter how attractive the 

23          financing is.  What you got to do is keep the old car 

24          around for a few more years. 

25                    What the original Guilani proposal was during 
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 2          a time when everybody was flush.  Now we are about to 

 3          face layoffs. 

 4                    Taking over my newsstands, and speaking for a 

 5          moment as a citizen, what we should be doing now is 

 6          maximizing the income of the existing street furniture, 

 7          the existing 3300 bus shelters, the existing newsstands 

 8          and put off new structures for a few years when we have 

 9          a better  time. 

10                    You will be getting more money next year by 

11          maximizing the revenue from existing bus shelters by 

12          simply putting out a bid to keep operating the new bus 

13          shelters.  They don't have to spend 3 or $4 million a 

14          year to replace them.  That's 3 or $4 million more a 

15          year than you're getting, plus another million dollars 

16          from newsstands. 

17                    Again, it's an issue of our libraries versus 

18          bus shelters. I think we can probably survive with the 

19          existing bus shelters and maximize the revenue from the 

20          stuff the City already has on the streets.

21                    COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Now, under your 

22          plan--it seems like there's one part of the Mayor's 

23          proposal that's about revenue generation which, I think 

24          everybody agrees  with.  It sounds like from your 

25          perspective like a good thing, and probably from  the 
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 2          newspapers perspective, that there are good ads, maybe 

 3          it's going to draw somebody over their direction. 

 4                    [MR. REILLY:  It's not a negative.   I should 

 5          point out Councilwoman, that the newspaper industry is 

 6          usually not in love with growing competition with the 

 7          advertising business, which after all is 75% of its 

 8          total revenues.

 9                    On the other hand, if it means more 

10          newsstands and more accessibility for the public to get 

11          to periodicals, we will grudgingly go along with the 

12          notion of enhancing a new competitive outlet, which 

13          indeed advertising on the back of newsstands would be.  

14          We prefer those advertisers to advertise in our 

15          publications.

16                    COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Never let it be said 

17          that the New York Times is not flexible.  So that's one 

18          part.  It seems that there is another part about 

19          getting pay toilets out there.  Let's set that aside 

20          for a second. 

21                    The third part seems to be about creating a 

22          uniform imagine or design for newsstands for a stated 

23          goal of improving how the streetscape looks.  How would 

24          that possibly get addressed in your proposal?  Or does 

25          it not, or is that another idea for another hearing? 
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 2                    MR. BOOKMAN:  It doesn't make them all new 

 3          and all uniform.  I'm not sure it should be all 

 4          uniform.  This is not Kansas, I'm not sure every bus 

 5          shelter has to match every newsstand, has to match 

 6          every garbage can, has to match the occasional toilet.  

 7          I think we are a lot more diverse than that.  But 

 8          that's an intellectual argument. 

 9                    I don't even believe the Municipal Arts 

10          Society-- I think one of the things that they were 

11          politely saying was, that not everything has to look 

12          alike. 

13                    Quite frankly, all I'm proposing to you for 

14          the next few years, if you look through my alternative 

15          plan, you will see immediate new revenue.  And I'll say 

16          that again, immediate new revenue for the City, and 

17          better maintained and better looking newsstands for 

18          now.

19                    Then let's decide whether it's that important 

20          to spend 9 or $10 million for tearing them down and 

21          building new ones.  Maybe we feel it's not a big issue 

22          and maybe your constraint will decide constituents will 

23          be more than satisfied that the advertising and the 

24          maintenance that comes along with that, that everything 

25          is hunky dory.
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 2                    As to the first point, I don't see where 

 3          there is any new revenue coming from this other than 

 4          our newsstands.  If you take our newsstands out, I mean 

 5          they can quote all kind of numbers they want, if you're 

 6          replacing 3300 bus shelters, with two ads on them each, 

 7          where is there any doubling of revenue coming from? 

 8                    Either their numbers are grossly optimistic,  

 9          or we are getting grossly underpaid from the existing 

10          3300 bus shelters, and since that bus franchise expires 

11          in a month, it's easy to test that out, where this 

12          doubling of revenue is coming from.

13                    COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.

14                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Council Member 

15          Melinda Katz? 

16                    COUNCIL MEMBER MELINDA KATZ:  Pardon me, but 

17          I have a case of laryngitis.  You and I had several 

18          conversations about newsstands, and my concern 

19          obviously that you shared with the Committee, and I 

20          apologize for coming in late, regarding if I had an old 

21          house, and someone wants to come in and fix it up for 

22          me, and doesn't want to ask me if that's okay, I'm not 

23          sure if I would agree because it may be an old house, 

24          but it's mine.

25                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Especially if you want to 
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 2          change the layout of your house.

 3                    COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  It may be nice, but 

 4          either way, it should be my choice.   My question 

 5          really is, you talked about getting a percentage of the 

 6          advertising revenues and the fairness of that, and I 

 7          guess Councilman Goia really touched on that, but would 

 8          there be any other sort of compromise?  There should be 

 9          a middle ground here somehow.  Is there any other 

10          compromise?

11                    I don't know exactly, but we asked the Deputy 

12          Mayor for some of the revenue charts on that, but I 

13          don't know if we received that.  But I don't know how 

14          much rent they are planning on charging after the 

15          franchises are given out afterwards,or we are planning 

16          on charging after the franchises are given out to you.  

17          Is there any other way besides percentages?  For 

18          instance it may be rent free? 

19                    MR. BOOKMAN:  I don't believe it.  I don't 

20          think they suggested that we start paying rent.  That's 

21          not part of it.  We don't pay rent now.  We pay a 

22          license fee to the City, and that will continue to pay 

23          that license fee.

24                    COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  I wasn't sure 

25          afterwards that would be part of it.
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 2                    MR. BOOKMAN:  No, it would not be.  But their 

 3          proposal is that we pay for this new structure that we 

 4          don't own.  So certainly there is income that will be 

 5          paid right away to add to your new revenue stream.

 6                    COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  I was talking about you 

 7          paying for the structure.

 8                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Right.

 9                    COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So would there be any 

10          middle ground? 

11                    MR. BOOKMAN:  I don't think I am, but maybe 

12          I'm being too self-evasive, but I think my proposal is 

13          middle ground because we are not opposing the City's 

14          idea that there should be advertising on newsstands, 

15          that the City should get a significant portion of the 

16          revenue from that newsstand.  We are in agreement.  We 

17          are really not that far apart.

18                    My proposal, I think really is a compromise 

19          since we are saying there is really a mechanism to do 

20          that, that frankly didn't exist in 1992, because you 

21          didn't have these thousands of telephone out there. 

22                    Since then, there's been a legal mechanism 

23          that you, the City Council and the City have created to 

24          do exactly what I'm suggesting that you do.  So you 

25          don't have to re-create the wheel here. 

                                                                 49

 1                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

 2                    The telephones have a license to operate the 

 3          phones such as we do, and they have franchises from the 

 4          City to put advertising on their structures.  They have 

 5          to use qualified advertising companies that you already 

 6          pre-approved.  There is a boilerplate agreement as to 

 7          how the revenue is shared. Those advertising companies 

 8          report to the city on a regular basis and write the 

 9          checks.  It's all there. 

10                    What I'm saying is, this is the compromise.  

11          Why should the telephones be treated differently than 

12          the newsstands? 

13                    COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  The only other question 

14          I have, and you may have commented on it, but my 

15          colleagues tell me you didn't comment on the toilet 

16          aspect of the street furniture as the Times has. 

17                    MR. REILLY:  The Times has no position on 

18          toilets, at least not through me, but perhaps the 

19          Editorial Page does, no, ma'am.

20                    MR. BOOKMAN:  But actually there was a Page 1 

21          story in the New York Times about a month ago, I don't 

22          know if you all saw it, entitled, "Commerce fills a New 

23          York City need, toilets", and they were saying that 

24          this long debate on public toilets is now over, because 

25          of this proliferation of chain stores of neighborhood 
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 2          toilets, that it has really not become a real need. 

 3                    COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Thank you.

 4                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Council Member Gail 

 5          Brewer?

 6                    COUNCIL MEMBER GAIL BREWER:  Thank you.  My 

 7          question is, in those newspapers that have a national 

 8          distribution, I know nobody walks like we do in New 

 9          York, but in San Francisco, I think people walk on the 

10          sidewalks, and my question is, did you find that those 

11          proposals were challenging in terms of newspaper sales 

12          and other issues? 

13                    MR. BOOKMAN:  I mean the only national 

14          newspaper, here is USA Today, and my understanding is 

15          that the other domestic street furniture plans in those 

16          cities that have newsstands are a very different plan 

17          than the newsstands we have here.  They are much more 

18          limited.  It's somewhat owned or subsidized by the 

19          publisher. 

20                    So there is no other newsstand comparison we 

21          can give you here in the United States. 

22                    MR. REILLY:  I correct my colleagues to note, 

23          that the Times is an international newspaper, but 

24          nonetheless I don't frankly know the experience.  I 

25          don't believe other than San Francisco there have been 
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 2          other locals that I know of, and even there I think it 

 3          was on a very limited basis, but we are not able to 

 4          have those facts, I'm sorry.

 5                    COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And was there ever 

 6          advertising on current newsstands in the past?

 7                    MR. BOOKMAN:  No, its never been allowed, and 

 8          it really is frankly, a flexibility on the part of the 

 9          publishers because it was originally that these 

10          newsstands not have advertising.  There was a fear that 

11          maybe one newspaper would dominate the advertising. 

12                    But every newspaper here now is willing to 

13          concede the importance of advertising on newsstands, 

14          both in the way they look, and help insure that they 

15          remain in business through revenue stream and through 

16          the system that the City has already established.  You 

17          know, these ads are sold by the hundreds, so it's 

18          really not a fear any longer.  Thank you.

19                    COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.

20                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you, gentlemen.  

21          We appreciate your testimony, and I think as Eric said, 

22          my colleague Eric Goia said, we certainly are going to 

23          take your comments into account on this proposal. 

24                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Thank you very much. 

25                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:   The next panel is 
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 2          Barry and Judith Schneider.

 3                    MS. JUDITH SCHNEIDER:  Good morning, Council 

 4          Members.  My name is Judith Schneider, and I'm the 

 5          Executive Vice-President of the East Sixties 

 6          Neighborhood Association.  ESNA is a 11 year-old, 42 

 7          block neighborhood association.  I am here to speak to 

 8          you on their behalf.

 9                    We welcome a unified plan on street 

10          furniture.  We do have some concerns about the 

11          presentation made to Community Board 8, by the Office 

12          of the Mayor for Economic Development, which we do not 

13          believe is specific enough.

14                    The projected revenue to the City seems 

15          unrealistic.  We need to know more specific information 

16          before going forward.  Why not just maintain the 

17          existing furniture, and issue an RFP for a five year 

18          contract?  When the City is in better economic shape at 

19          the end of that time period, then consider entering a 

20          program for new street furniture. 

21                    Mr. Wallace kept alluding to the Community 

22          Board's opinion, but when does that happen the way the 

23          process is set up now? 

24                    Why is this not a new ULURP process?  The 

25          sidewalks of the City of New York have changed greatly 
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 2          since '96.  As an example, we have thousands of new 

 3          phones installed on the sidewalks, that were not 

 4          present in '96.  The Council will vote on an 

 5          Authorizing Resolution to issue an RFP, and if the 

 6          Council approves the authorization and an RFP is 

 7          issued, the Community Boards wil not have a strong 

 8          voice in this process.

 9                    During the Community Board presentation, it 

10          was continually stressed that pay toilets would be 

11          located in our parks, which present the following 

12          problems:

13                    One, there will be no consultation with the 

14          community about the location in specific parks and 

15          where the toilet will be placed.

16                    Two, our community has traditionally been 

17          opposed to advertising in our parks.

18                    Lastly, and most importantly, it is hard to 

19          conceive how the City Council can go forward approving 

20          this authorization without knowing what the parameters 

21          would be for this new furniture, dimensions, materials, 

22          colors, etc.  Nothing is spelled out, once the RFP is 

23          let, it is too late to do anything.

24                    The community received a presentation with 

25          not much specific information.  Therefore, I strongly 
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 2          urge the Council not to progress with this 

 3          authorization at this time.  Thank you for hearing my 

 4          testimony.

 5                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  Next 

 6          speaker.

 7                    MR. BARRY SCHNEIDER:  Good morning, Mr. 

 8          Chairman and Council Members.  I appreciate it very 

 9          much the opportunity to be here this morning because I 

10          am concerned about the process. 

11                    As my wife Judy said, the community was 

12          offered a brief unspecified presentation by the 

13          representative of the Mayor's Office.  He came before 

14          us and he gave a very general concept of what the plan 

15          was going to be, and he asked for our consideration and 

16          our approval. 

17                    It reminded me of a story, when the Pope was 

18          looking to get the Cistine Chapel redone in Rome.  He 

19          let a RFP.  He asked a lot of architects to come by and 

20          tell him how they planned to do the ceiling of the 

21          Cistine Chapel, and they got stacks like this 

22          (Indicating). 

23                    The last fellow to come by was a fellow named 

24          Michaelangelo, and he took out a piece of paper and 

25          charcoal and he drew a perfect circle, and the Pope 
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 2          said, "you got the contract". 

 3                    Well, the people who came before the 

 4          Community Board last month was not Michaelangelo.  We 

 5          need a lot more than a perfect circle drawn for us to 

 6          help us make an informed decision, and to communicate 

 7          to the Council our feelings about the proposal. 

 8                    Some of the things I would like the Council 

 9          to do is, send it back to the community, the Community 

10          Board specifically, with details prior to your letting 

11          of the specifications for the Authorizing Resolution. 

12                    Number two, I would like you to continue the 

13          outdoor public pay telephones and that they be 

14          incorporated into this proposal. 

15                    And, number three, the news boxes, which 

16          clutter our corners on every street in the city, also 

17          be made a part of it.  The local BIDS have done an 

18          outstanding jobs.  They did a coherent plan for new 

19          new-boxes.  I strongly urge that you take a look at it, 

20          and incorporate it into this Authorizing Resolution. 

21                    Thank you very much for having a public 

22          hearing.  Let the public know more about this before 

23          you go forward.  Thank you. 

24                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  The next 

25          pair of speakers is Claire Weisz and Peter Abeles.
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 2                    MS. CLAIRE WEISZ:  Chairman Avella, and 

 3          Members of the Subcommittee, it's an honor to testify 

 4          before you today  on the street furniture program. 

 5                    My name is Claire Weisz,  and I am the 

 6          Co-Executive Director of the Design Trust for Public 

 7          Space.  We are a not-for-profit dedicated to improving 

 8          public space for all New Yorkers, and in this capacity 

 9          I am here to testify in support of what I think is a 

10          timely and important City-wide street furniture 

11          initiative, and my emphasis is on City-wide. 

12                    Most of our programs are in all the boroughs 

13          of New York City, and it's for these boroughs that this 

14          program can be of great assistance.  We support 

15          building more street amenities to Staten Island, Queens 

16          The Bronx and Brooklyn. There are many BIDS, many 

17          groups who need the assistance and need the amenities 

18          that this program can bring. 

19                    Good functional design benefits all 

20          neighborhoods in all boroughs.  This program in its 

21          language recommends that design is not an afterthought.  

22          It's a key to adressing real functional issues, and 

23          with the support of the community design process, which 

24          I believe is part of this program, good designs will 

25          result from a good design process. 
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 2                    I guess I want to remind everyone of this 

 3          sort of "Petruvian" sort of design which is somewhat of 

 4          a commodity (Inaudible).

 5                    I would like to bring up a couple of elements  

 6          which are not clearly in the design criteria now, which 

 7          I hope will be before the final one, and one his the 

 8          looking at green designs, or environmental designs in 

 9          terms of all of the street amenities. 

10                    We recommend strongly that environmental  

11          standards be applied to any demolition to all the 

12          materials used, and to potentially lighting to allow 

13          for any lighting in the street furniture program.  

14          Lighting is a very important concept from a security 

15          point of view.  For the lighting to be helpful to the 

16          public spaces, to not be offensive to anyone living 

17          near it, and yet provide security.   

18                    That this lighting potentially could be  

19          powered for many of these elements.  Materials have 

20          come on the market recently that are self-cleaning.  

21          This could help immensely for the program, so that 

22          maintenance is not a problem, but is just simply a part 

23          of the structure.  

24                    About the 12.5% of public advertising.  One 

25          good example of this is poetry in motion.  As an 
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 2          example in the subways that public advertising could be 

 3          seen as a wonderful way for each neighborhood in the 

 4          part of the City to express themselves.  It should be 

 5          seen as a priority and an asset for this program.  And 

 6          as with many groups--

 7                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  If you could sum up, 

 8          please.

 9                    MS. WEISZ:  I will sum up.  It's unfortunate 

10          that the payphones and newsstands can't be part of this 

11          right now, but we look forward to the point where it 

12          could be.  Thank you. 

13                    MR. PETER ABELES:  Good morning.  I'm a 

14          citizen I live out on West 7th Street.  I heard about 

15          the hearing and came right down. 

16                    But my point is this; I'm a little 

17          disappointed  that everybody disappeared, but I hope 

18          you will take this back to them.

19                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  The Chairman is still 

20          here, and that's what counts.

21                    MR. ABELES:  Very briefly, this started 

22          because a couple of days ago, a tourist approached me 

23          on West 10th Street and spoke German to me, and asked 

24          if I knew where a bathroom was.  And I know German, and 

25          I said go to McDonald's, and I thought about it. 
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 2                    I recently went to China, and I have to tell 

 3          you,   that every ten miles on the highways of China, 

 4          there is a toilet.  I know they have been at it for 

 5          5,000 years, and we have only been at it for 400, but 

 6          Mr. Chairman I think we can get with it instead of 

 7          sending tourists to McDonalds. 

 8                    Let me tell you the thrust of my thoughts.  

 9          We in  New York are very adaptable.  In 1908, the first 

10          traffic light went into effect, I looked it up.  It 

11          took another 55 years before we added the yellow and 

12          saved thousands of lives. 

13                    Curbs. We had curbs in New York City since 

14          Peter Stuyvesant, where I went to school.  About 30 

15          years ago we started making curb-cuts. 

16                    Why don't we get on it to put 30 or 40 these 

17          toilets on the streets?  Don't send it back to the 

18          community and make a big deal about it.  Let's try it 

19          and use it, and use the existing materials as we go 

20          along.

21                    I suggest to you, Mr. Chairman, New Yorkers 

22          will find a way of making the improvements in the 

23          economics, design and the self-cleaning.  The New York 

24          Times will be happy, but to delay this for another ten 

25          years as we age, especially myself, and look for these 
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 2          places is pathetic. 

 3                    I mean, what do I tell people from abroad, 

 4          that we don't have this in New York? 

 5                    So rather than using all three minutes, my 

 6          message to you is, pass a bill that allows us to have 

 7          30 or 40 in New York City, and we in New York will find 

 8          a way to make it better, and how to make it work the 

 9          same way we did with MetroCards.  Thank you very much.

10                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  Our next 

11          panel will be Robert Brill and Paul Collins.

12                    MR. ROBERT BRILL:  Chairman Avella,  my name 

13          is Robert Brill.  I submitted written testimony, but I 

14          am not going to read my testimony.  It's always good to 

15          come toward the end of the session, because you get to 

16          hear the rest of the speakers. I would like to comment 

17          on a number of things.

18                    One overriding comment from the last hearing 

19          to this one, the nature of the proposed text of the 

20          legislation that was submitted to you, in my view is 

21          problematic. 

22                    There are a number of different wish list 

23          items from the Council, and I'm going to take a very 

24          simple one that Member Vann talked about at the last 

25          meeting, which was about an incentive for minority and 
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 2          women owned business. 

 3                    There is in the precatory language there, 

 4          there is some suggestion about that, but if you want to 

 5          make it a mandate, it can't be in the Whereas'.  It has 

 6          to be in the language that says, "there should be 

 7          expressed intensity in the bidding to accomplish that 

 8          goal". 

 9                    My point in that example, is, only that you 

10          should be mindful that you're not a prisoner of the old 

11          form of the Authorizing Resolution, and that there are 

12          different items that you should be examining. 

13                    I think there is a rush here to get this done 

14          from the Administration's point of view.  The amount of 

15          revenue raised necessarily from the combined street 

16          furniture in terms of the advertising dollars, is not 

17          going to balance the budget as we know it, okay? 

18                    So I think the opportunity to think about it 

19          and to get to some knowledge about what's the primary 

20          purpose of the legislation, what are some of the things 

21          that we could easily put in, and how do we structure 

22          the legislation, is something that you should address.

23                    Let me speak about something that Mr. Wallace  

24          said representing Decaux.  First of all, I agree with 

25          him on one thing.  This coordinated street furniture 
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 2          franchise for the most part is about advertising 

 3          revenue. 

 4                    You know, it's nice to have bus shelters, but 

 5          you don't really need the bus shelters.  You have 

 6          umbrellas.   

 7                    I disagree with this gentlemen, about the 

 8          street toilets.  It's about a limited number that's 

 9          going to solve the problem.  You have Starbucks, you 

10          have local amenities.  

11                    With respect to that, you should have a truer 

12          statement from the advertising industry about how do 

13          the present different franchises that are out there 

14          now, payphones and bus shelters make money from 

15          advertising?  What's the distribution net?  What really 

16          sells?  How does it sell?  You had no testimony about 

17          that. 

18                    I can tell you that Deputy Mayor Doctoroff 

19          and his people have not spoken to my payphone clients.  

20          I think that that's a mistake.  I don't believe they 

21          have spoken to the media representatives that represent 

22          the various payphones. 

23                    Now, the advertising revenue from a FOIL that 

24          I got from DOT, which I'll show you subsequently in 

25          writing, shows that I believe in 2OOO and 2001, from 
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 2          all of the associated revenues, the payphone franchises 

 3          made between 16 and $20 million. 

 4                    I think Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, when he 

 5          talked about the fact that the bus shelter franchises 

 6          made $11 million-- now I use to represent one of the 

 7          old bus shelter franchisees, and they make much more 

 8          than that.  So something is wrong with that statistic, 

 9          and if I can just extend my comments a little bit. 

10                    You should be getting more information to the 

11          Committee publicly from the Administration about the 

12          revenues. 

13                    Let me speak about 20 years.  This is a 20 

14          year franchise.  You don't need 20 years.  In my view, 

15          a lesser longevity in the term would do just as well, 

16          and in fact I think it's more accountable and 

17          appropriate, and it forces  competition. 

18                    One final comment, if I may.  I think you 

19          should also be tentative to geographic distribution as 

20          well.  Perhaps not as rigid as I proposed in my written 

21          testimony, but the payphone franchise works, and has 

22          two big competitors going at each other.  They already 

23          have four or five media reps.  It works nicely. 

24                    I agree with Rob Bookman.  I believe you 

25          should be examining a newsstand advertising franchise, 
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 2          and making it open to media reps.  Have the City get a 

 3          cut just like in payphones.  I think you should perhaps 

 4          think about that in terms of bus shelters.  That's the 

 5          way to go there. 

 6                    And, as for the toilets, one thing in 

 7          response to Council Member Vann's question, the pay 

 8          toilets are going to be in the highest density 

 9          individually built area as a 15 to 30, (Inaudible) and 

10          the panels will necessarily be larger. 

11                    So they are going to put advertising panels 

12          on them, and they are going to do very nicely.  Can it 

13          be equal to the $30 million for capitalization?  No.

14                    So I think what you should do, is limit the 

15          number of APTs, and the various franchisees should have 

16          responsibility, but you should be able to put ad panels 

17          on them.  Thank you.

18                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  Next 

19          speaker.

20                    MR. PAUL COLLINS:  My name is Paul Collins. 

21          I'm with the Sheet Metal Workers, Local Union 137.  I 

22          represent the people that would probably be putting up 

23          bus shelters  and street furniture and so forth.  Let 

24          me start a little bit about my life story. 

25                    I, like Eric, I heard your story,  I grew up 
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 2          in Astoria, and fortunately I went to an apprenticeship 

 3          program, and I got a good union job.  For a kid from 

 4          the projects, I raise a family, I have a good job, and 

 5          they finally punished me by making me President of the 

 6          of the union, but that's another story. 

 7                    And, I also installed the first bus shelter.  

 8          So, I was elected from membership, but I also put up 

 9          some of those bus shelters that you see in the streets 

10          today. 

11                    Yes, I agree, that the City of New York needs 

12          to have some kind of aesthetically pleasing way of 

13          dealing with advertising.  As you know, I represent a 

14          lot of people in the advertising industry, outdoor 

15          advertising also.  But it has to be some aesthetically 

16          pleasing thing, because what happens is, you have Local 

17          Law 14 pop up, and it makes a mess out of everything. 

18                    So I would ask the panel that they come up 

19          with something, because there are some great ideas out 

20          there from everyone, but my big thing is that it 

21          requires that union labor be used. 

22                    In the phonebooths, phonebooths came in from 

23          outside.  Meanwhile, we had local manufacturers here 

24          that did not do a lot of those phonebooths.  I would 

25          like to see to that it stays in New York City where it 
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 2          will create real jobs for real people. My members work 

 3          real jobs.  They are not $8 an hour jobs.  They are 

 4          real jobs.

 5                    I made a consorted effort years ago that our 

 6          Union stay in New York City.  We did not move to the 

 7          suburbs. We stayed in New York City.  We invested $1.7 

 8          million in our school, so that whatever technology 

 9          comes along next, we will be able to be on top of it 

10          and be ahead of the pack. 

11                    We are looking forward to seeing bus 

12          shelters.  We need it right now.  I know you can't make 

13          decisions as soon as possible, but believe me, there 

14          are people out there who are unemployed who can really 

15          use this work. Thank you very much. 

16                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  The next 

17          panel is Penny Ryan and Steve Stollman.   While this 

18          panel is being seated, I want to remind everyone, if 

19          you're still interested in speaking, you must fill out 

20          a Speakers Request Form and the Sergeant-At-Arms has 

21          them over at the side.  

22                    MS. PENNY RYAN:  Good morning.  I'm Penny 

23          Ryan and I'm the District Manager of  Manhattan 

24          Community Board 7 on the Upper West Side. 

25                    While Community Board 7 did approve the 
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 2          Coordinated Street Furniture Franchise in 1996-97, we 

 3          haven't  taken a formal position on this resolution.  

 4          We will be doing that on November 6th.  We are 

 5          distributing a letter from the Board to you 

 6          illustrating some of our concerns. 

 7                    I would just like to highlight this 

 8          statement.   We would encourage as Community Board 8 

 9          mentioned, that news-racks and public payphones be 

10          included. 

11                    We understand that there is a provision 

12          within the design for the public payphones to come in 

13          after 10 years, but there might be a way to bring them 

14          in now rather than later. 

15                    We also think that the trash cans could be 

16          brought in if the designs were upgraded from the 

17          current metal signs to something similar to what the 

18          BIDS are using in Manhattan that could bear advertising 

19          of its own in an a very discreet way. 

20                    We also have an record of encouraging the 

21          appropriate siting of Automatic Public Toilets, and we 

22          advocated this for years. 

23                    We are concerned though, that we understand 

24          under this proposal that the Parks Department would 

25          site the Automatic Pay Toilets, and they would go into 

                                                                 68

 1                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

 2          parkland, rather than into some of the areas that the 

 3          MAS and others have mentioned in more tourist highly 

 4          trafficked areas.   

 5                    So that is a concern to us, and a particular 

 6          concern.  As Board 8 mentioned, we have been very much 

 7          against any advertising on parkland.  So we don't know 

 8          how that would get resolved. 

 9                    We are also concerned about the fewer number 

10          of Automatic Pay Toilets that are being considered in 

11          this proposal.  We think a higher number would be 

12          better, and we are one of the communities that would be 

13          very happy to  accept them. 

14                    Finally, concerning our landmarks district, 

15          it isn't clear that all of the structures would have a 

16          design that would relate to different landmark 

17          districts.  And we would like to get clarification on 

18          that. 

19                    And, the placement of bus shelters is 

20          something that we have been looking at along our 

21          landmarks, and we are concerned about the advertising 

22          that would go along with them, because it's a very 

23          sensitive area, and if the number of bus shelters were 

24          increased, that's something we have to look at. 

25                    And, finally, concerning newsstands, Bob 
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 2          Bookman raised a lot of issues that we share with him 

 3          as well, but in looking at the regulations in whatever 

 4          the newsstands turn out to be in this proposal, we hope 

 5          that there be some look at the revenue basis from the 

 6          operators and also some better regulations about them 

 7          not turning into mini-stores, but rather newsstands 

 8          that the publishers have advocated for.  Thank you. 

 9                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Next speaker.

10                    MR. STEVE STOLLMAN:  Thank you for this 

11          opportunity to speak.  My name is Steve Stollman.  I am 

12          with a group called (Inaudible) and also Local 

13          Expressions.  I have a number of concerns that have not 

14          been addressed up to their movement directly, but 

15          although they have been hinted at. 

16                    The Mayor appears to be asking the City 

17          Council to pass an Authorizing Resolution which would 

18          be identical to the resolution which was passed in 

19          1997, and there appears to be only one purpose for 

20          doing that which is to avoid the cumbersome, but 

21          necessary in some ways, important processes, public 

22          processes that we do maintain through the City Planning 

23          Commission and Community Boards.  It is only through 

24          this mechanism that democracy can breath and speak. 

25                    And, there is no reason that I have heard so 
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 2          far from anybody that testified, that there is such a 

 3          rush, there is such a need as was expressed 10 years 

 4          ago about toilets,   which apparently has abated, and 

 5          25 years ago about bus shelters which has abated.  We 

 6          now have newsstands, and yes, this could stand to be 

 7          improved in many ways.  But we have an existing system 

 8          and we also have an existing system for examining, 

 9          criticizing and developing public programs that affect 

10          the public in serious ways that this one does. 

11                    I'm afraid that all of those ways have not be 

12          addressed.  In the first place, bus shelters should not 

13          be bus shelters.  Bus shelters should be articulated 

14          transportation stations, and they should cover 

15          everything from electric bicycles, to car pools to 

16          public transit. 

17                    We need better transportation in this city.  

18          It's a vital need for us.  It's perhaps driving us into 

19          a war.  We need to take advantage of the public transit 

20          that we have and the density that we enjoy in order to 

21          provide the best possible transportation resources for 

22          ourselves. 

23                    We need to redefine what a bus shelter is 

24          into a fully articulated transportation station based 

25          in the community, and on behalf of that community as 
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 2          well as the bus system.

 3                    Newsstands, we are in the middle of something 

 4          called the Information, (Inaudible) and we are in the 

 5          middle of a place called the center of the world 

 6          regarding media. 

 7                    Newsstands could and should be information 

 8          nodes.  They should be fully articulated and fully 

 9          accessible to the community for the community to use to 

10          provide information as well as to get information from. 

11                    We are not looking at this in a serious way.  

12          We are looking at this in a way the advertising 

13          industry, specifically the billboard industry, would 

14          have us looking at this to serve their needs and 

15          purposes.  Their needs and purposes is not exactly 

16          identical to our needs and purposes.

17                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Please sum you.

18                    MR. STOLLMAN:  Okay.  I just what to mention 

19          two other things very shortly.  First, the information 

20          terminals were mentioned by the Administration at the 

21          last presentation. The last information terminal 

22          discussed had three t.v. sets, two billboards and a 

23          zipper sign on them.  They were an abomination.  We 

24          need real information terminals, not increased 

25          advertising. 
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 2                    In any case, I would like to thank this 

 3          Committee for taking such a serious attitude toward 

 4          this issue, and I would just like to say that some of 

 5          the ideas started out   as having a lot of value, but I 

 6          think the most important thing is that we need a new 

 7          Authorizing Resolution and a new public process and 

 8          ULURP involving Community Boards so that these issues 

 9          can be discussed in their fullest.  Thank you.

10                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  The next 

11          panel is Matthew Bauer and April Sepanski.

12                    MR. MATTHEW BAUER:  Good morning Chairman 

13          Avella  and Members of the Committee.  My name is 

14          Matthew Bauer. I'm the President of the Madison Avenue 

15          Business Improvement District, but I'm here 

16          representing the New York City BID Managers 

17          Association, which is comprised of the Directors of 

18          each of the City's four Business Improvement Districts. 

19                    It's my pleasure to speak before you this 

20          morning because we are so pleased that a coordinated 

21          street furniture franchise program has been created for 

22          New York.  The street furniture program that has been 

23          created as a result of this program will serve as an 

24          amenity for New Yorkers.

25                    We especially commend the framers of this 
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 2          legislation for their emphasis on aesthetics.  Few 

 3          things speak as powerfully of the regard government has 

 4          for its constituents than its ability to create public 

 5          environments that enliven the spirit and give moments 

 6          of respite in the hectic lives of city residents.

 7                    Our all volunteer Board of Directors of each 

 8          of  our BIDs well recognize that this legislation 

 9          really represents a unique and timely opportunity for 

10          this city to raise revenue that is critically to 

11          support essential public programs and services, and at 

12          the same time, improving the quality of life for all 

13          New Yorkers.

14                    We would like to thank the Council for its 

15          recently enacted legislation regarding the placement 

16          and maintenance of newspaper vending boxes.  We hope 

17          that this will prevent the problems of news boxes 

18          located around the City. 

19                    Actually, this new legislation is really a 

20          wonderful next step in this Administration and 

21          Council's efforts for improving the city's streetscape.  

22          And we would like to really thank Deputy Mayor Daniel 

23          Doctoroff and DOT Commissioner Iris Weinshall and their 

24          respective staffs for not only creating and forwarding 

25          this really important legislation, but for the 
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 2          inclusive strategies they have taken to elicit public 

 3          input on the goals and details of the program. 

 4                    In the spirit of this dialogue, we have 

 5          several suggestions that would strengthen the franchise 

 6          legislation as it affects BIDS. 

 7                    A number of Business Improvement Districts 

 8          have already made significant investments in street 

 9          furniture.  From newsstands to multi-vendor newspaper 

10          boxes, from public pay toilets to pedestrian 

11          information kiosks, from street lamp poles to street 

12          curbs, from trash receptacles to bike racks, New York 

13          City BIDS of designed, fabricated, installed and 

14          maintained a street furniture that has really been 

15          embraced by New Yorkers and shoppers and tourist alike. 

16                    Our street furniture also withstood the test 

17          of time, and therefore, we believe that our existing 

18          street improvements should be acknowledged and 

19          preserved under this franchise agreement.  

20                    And, given our collective experience, in the 

21          design public review process, in evaluating and 

22          maintaining street furniture and our longstanding 

23          relationship with a variety of City agencies, including 

24          the Department of Business Services, we recommend that 

25          a member of the BID Managers Association should have a 

                                                                 75

 1                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

 2          seat on the Design Advisory Committee called for on 

 3          this legislation. 

 4                    In summing up, we believe that we should also 

 5          let  the new street furniture, should when it's 

 6          possible, take into consideration our existing 

 7          precedents that we created in terms of color and in 

 8          terms of new furniture, and it should be incorporated, 

 9          and if it's not practical, we would like to be able to 

10          pay for it to bring it up to those standards.

11                    And, we also would like to use this 

12          opportunity to review our bus shelter rules to make 

13          sure that they are indeed needed, particularly in 

14          underserved areas.  Thank you. 

15                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  Before 

16          you speak, I would just like to recognize the fact that 

17          we are being visited today by the Richmond Hill 

18          Historical Society in the back, and they are watching I 

19          hope, good Government in action. 

20                    Council Member Dennis Gallagher has brought 

21          this to my attention, and I know he's going to be out 

22          there taking you on a tour of City Hall, and it's nice 

23          of you for coming down.  And if you are interested, 

24          this is a public hearing on street furniture.  Dennis 

25          can tell you all about it.  Thank you go ahead. 
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 2                    Ms. APRIL SEPANSKI:  Hello, my name is April 

 3          Sepanski, and I'm married to Mark Sepanski, and he is 

 4          the owner of a sidewalk newsstand on the Upper West 

 5          Side, on 66th and Columbus Avenue.  We are members of 

 6          Mr. Bookman's Association of Sidewalk News Vendors. 

 7                    I would like to say that it's very important, 

 8          and I don't want people to forget that the existing 

 9          sidewalk newsstands are owned and operated by moms and 

10          pops.  A lot of the moms and pops don't get up here to 

11          speak, but I thought it was important that I do that 

12          and speak for us.

13                    The sidewalk newsstands were bought, and are 

14          bought by the owners, and they were paid for by owners, 

15          and we would like the City to look nice, but we don't 

16          want to get gobbled up and dragged by big business and 

17          devoured by big business.

18                    We work very hard to keep our newsstands 

19          looking nice. The problem is the money.  Everything 

20          costs money, and because of what's lately happening 

21          with the cigarettes, the taxes goes up and the 

22          terrorist attack, less tourists have come to the City 

23          also, and that has made our income go down, and we 

24          would like to be able to take part in the revenue 

25          that's gotten from the advertising. 
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 2                    We are willing to share it.  We are not--we 

 3          are marginal people, meaning that some of us are 

 4          making--if we just made a little extra money we would 

 5          be able to go on vacations that we can't go on.  We 

 6          would be able to have cars, and pay the insurance. 

 7                    And, it's hard for people to believe that 

 8          some people are living just on the border and the 

 9          little bit of money that we would make, at least in 

10          half, the advertisers, they make  a lot.  We don't make 

11          a lot, and the difference that we would make could put 

12          us over the edge and make ourselves self-sufficient.  

13          That's very important. 

14                    Like my newsstand could use a little 

15          renovation, but we had a problem with the person who 

16          was supposed to fix it.  They needed more money, we 

17          gave it to them and they disappeared.  But if we had a 

18          little more money we would could be able to renovate it 

19          and make it beautiful, because I know what beauty is, 

20          and I know we have a great city, and we could do it if 

21          we all worked together and people weren't so looking 

22          selfishly out for themselves.

23                    I also think the advertising for the 

24          newsstands  could help the communities also.  That was 

25          also mentioned.  Big ads from big stores, and 
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 2          pocketbook companies and you know, telecommunication 

 3          companies that's good. 

 4                    But the person walking the street who lives 

 5          in their community, it would be nice if the Community 

 6          Board is on one side of the newsstand, then the people 

 7          walking in the area would know what's going on there, 

 8          they could know about the little issues. 

 9                    See, you can't forget the little guy.  This 

10          City is made up of more little guys than big guys, and 

11          you can't forget them.  And to keep the City alive, 

12          everybody has to be to be optimistic.

13                    If you start grabbing money out of people's 

14          hands they can't take care of their families.  There 

15          are a lot more middle-income people than the big guys, 

16          and they should be able to share with us. 

17                    I just wanted to keep that idea in your mind, 

18          not to forget about us because we are trying to live in 

19          the city as well as the others.  Thank you. 

20                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you for your 

21          testimony.  I appreciate those comments.  I'm going to 

22          call back Robert Bookman.  I understand you would like 

23          to make a slight correction in your testimony.

24                    MR. BOOKMAN:  Yes, thank you for your 

25          indulgence here.  I just would like to say the record 
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 2          is not correct, and it was pointed out to me that one 

 3          of my answers to a question earlier today was 

 4          incorrect, and I would like to clarify that for the 

 5          record while everyone is still here today. 

 6                    I was asked by Council Member McMahon, a 

 7          question pertaining to the Administration's concern 

 8          regarding my   clients' concerns with the street 

 9          furniture proposal, and my response was that the 

10          Administration was not willing to meet with me. 

11                    In fact, both the Commissioner and the Deputy 

12          Commissioner of the Department of Consumer Affairs had 

13          met with me concerning meetings about newsstands, and 

14          specifically inquired what our position was concerning 

15          the street furniture proposal. 

16                    I was referring incorrectly my answer to 

17          Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, who was the one who testified 

18          for the Administration the last time and I was thinking 

19          of the " Administration. 

20                    Obviously the Administration is larger that 

21          than    that, so I would like to apologize both to the 

22          Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner who are here, and 

23          I know they are concerned about newsstands, and I'm 

24          hoping after today's meeting we will have more fruitful 

25          discussions.  Thank you.
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 2                    COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  Is there 

 3          anyone else wishing to speak at this time?                 

 4          (No Response).

 5                    I would like to thank everybody for coming 

 6          down today.  This is the first of probably several 

 7          hearings on this. And I appreciate your testimony, and 

 8          we will be reviewing  everything that's been said here 

 9          today, and it's our hope that somewhere down the line 

10          we will be coming together with a compromise that helps 

11          the City and moves this process along.  Thank you.                                

12          (Time Noted:  11:49 A.M.)
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